1983

# Baltazar Antillon v. The Board of Review of The Industrial Commission of Utah, Supreme Court Department of Employment Security : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Petition for Writ of Review was granted to appeal the decision of the Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah, which terminated and denied the Appellant unemployment benefits based on §§35-4-5(e) and 35-4-5(k)(1), Utah Code Ann. (1981 Supplement).

DISPOSITION OF THE CASE BELOW

Appellant's benefits were terminated December 25, 1982. A hearing was held before a Department Representative on February 23, 1983. The Representative sustained the termination of benefits in a decision issued March 15, 1983, which allowed the Appellant 10 days to appeal.

Appellant filed his appeal March 22, 1983, and an administrative hearing was held before Eugene D. Wright, Appeals Referee in Price, Utah, April 12, 1983. The Appeals Referee

affirmed the decision of the Department representative who specifically found the Appellant ineligible for benefits based on §35-4-5(e) and §35-4-5(k)(1), Utah Code Ann. (1981 Supplement).

The Appellant appealed the decision to the Board of Review on April 28, 1983. The Board of Review affirmed the decision of the Appeals Referee in a decision dated July 12, 1983. The Appellant then filed a timely Petition for Writ of Review in this Court on July 26, 1983.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant requests reversal of the decision of the Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah, Department of Employment Security, terminating his benefits and finding him ineligible. Appellant also requests reinstatement of those benefits.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellant, Baltazar Antillon, is a citizen of Mexico. He has permanently resided in the United States since 1971 (R. 0034), with brief vacations to Mexico. It was on the last of these vacations to Mexico, in July of 1980 that Mr. Antillon filed papers in Mexico to legitimize his status in the United States (R. 0035, 0037). On January 30, 1981, the Appellant voluntarily went to the Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS) in Salt Lake City to determine his immigrant status in the United States (R. 0033). At that time he was issued an I-94 Arrival and Departure document which indicated that he was in the United States with the knowledge of the INS, and under docket control by the Salt Lake INS office (R. 0057). Appellant

was also issued a Notice of Voluntary Departure (R. 0056) pursuant to 8 C.F.R. §245.5(2)(iii), which provided no penalty for failure to depart (R. 0033).

Instead of leaving the United States, Appellant remained in the country in an attempt to legitimize his status to that of legal permanent resident. He hired an immigration attorney who informed him that he was entitled to apply for Suspension of Deportation (§3244 Immigration and Nationality Act, 8 U.S.C. §1254) and, through that process, become a legal permanent resident of the United States. The Appellant notified the INS of his intention to remain in the United States pending final adjudication of his status by filing an Application for Suspension of Deportation on August 4, 1981 (R. 0054, 0055). Subsequent to the filing of this application, the INS issued an Order to Show Cause (R. 0051) against the Appellant on September 10, 1981, which initiated deportation proceedings (8 C.F.R. §242.1). The Order to Show Cause informed the Appellant of his procedural due process rights and set a date for the hearing, on the veracity of the allegations, on a "date to be determined." (R. 0052, 0051).

Appellant testified that no action by the INS had occurred subsequent to the fall of 1981 (R. 0039). He has not had a hearing before an immigration judge (R. 0038) nor has any action been taken on his application for Suspension of Deportation (R. 0039).

After applying for papers in Mexico, informing the INS of his presence in the United States and receiving an I-94



document, the Appellant believed that there had been a change in his status in the United States which made him eligible for benefits (R. 0037). Prior to his contact with the INS, Appellant understood he was not entitled to benefits and therefore, he never applied, even though he had had periods of unemployment (R. 0037).

Appellant applied for and received unemployment compensation benefits for the weeks ended January 10, 1981, through January 31, 1981, and from July 17, 1982, to July 24, 1982; October 30, 1982, through December 25, 1982. His benefits were terminated on December 25, 1982. At his hearing on April 12, 1983, the Appellant objected to the use of, and reliance on, the hearsay evidence of the INS (R. 0029, 0030). His objection was overruled (R. 0030), and he was subsequently disqualified for a 49 week period beginning March 20, 1983, and ending February 25, 1984, and found to have received an overpayment liability in the amount of \$4,220.00, twice the amount he received (R. 0004).

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

APPELLANT ESTABLISHED HIS ELIGIBILITY FOR UNEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS UNDER SECTION 35-4-5(k), UTAH CODE ANNOTATED (1981 SUPPLEMENT), AS A PERSON PERMANENTLY RESIDING IN THE UNITED STATES UNDER COLOR OF LAW.

- A. UTAH CODE ANN. §35-4-5(k) PROVIDES THREE CATEGORIES OF ALIENS ELIGIBLE TO RECEIVE UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION BENEFITS.

The Appellant was found to be ineligible under §35-4-5(k), Utah Code Ann. (1981 Supplement) which provides that:

An individual shall be ineligible for benefits or for purposes of establishing a waiting period:

(k) (1) For any week in which the benefits are based upon services performed by an alien unless such alien is an individual who has been lawfully admitted for permanent residence at the time such services were performed, was lawfully present for purposes of performing such services or, was permanently residing in the United States under color of law at the time such services were performed (including an alien who is lawfully present in the United States as a result of the application of the provision of section 203(a)(7) or section 212 (d)(5) of the Immigration and Nationality Act).

(Emphasis added). The statute establishes three distinct exceptions to ineligibility. Respondents, in their decision in this case acknowledge eligibility based only on the first two categories: when an alien is lawfully admitted for permanent residence or lawfully admitted for performing the services (as demonstrated by a work authorization permit issued by the INS). The third and completely ignored category includes those aliens "permanently residing in the United States under color of law."

The meaning of the phrase "permanently residing in the United States under color of law" must be examined in terms of case law and the Immigration and Naturalization Act. Since the Utah statute is identical to Federal law, 26 U.S.C. §3304(14)(A), and neither attempts to limit the phrase "under color of law," it should be accorded a fluid meaning consistent with its historical legal significance with an eye toward the relationship of the alien and his status in the United States.

The starting point for analysis is examining the meaning of "color of law". It has frequently been said that

color of law does not mean actual law. "'Color' as a modifier legal parlance means 'appearance as distinguished from reality. Color of law means mere semblance of legal right." McCain City of Des Moines, 174 U.S. 168, 175 (1889).

- B. WHEN THE IMMIGRATION AND NATURALIZATION SERVICE IS AWARE OF A PERSON'S STATUS AND DOES NOT ATTEMPT TO EFFECTUATE DEPORTATION, THAT PERSON IS RESIDING IN THE UNITED STATES UNDER COLOR OF LAW.

In Holley v. Lavine, 553 F.2d 845 (2nd Cir. 1977) cert. denied Shang v. U.S., 435 U.S. 947 (1978) the court construed the phrase "permanently residing in the United States under color of law" which was used in the eligibility criteria of the New York State Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC) plan. In construing "under color of law" the court stated:

The phrase obviously includes actions not covered by specific authorization of law. It embraces not only situations within the body of the law, but also others enfolded by a colorable invitation. "Under color of law" means that which an official does by virtue of power, as well as what he does by virtue of right. The phrase encircles the law, its shadows, and its penumbra. When an administrative agency or legislative body uses the phrase "under color of law" it deliberately sanctions the use of cases that are, in strict terms, outside the law, but are near the boarder.

Id. at 849-950. See also Matter of Papadopoulos v. Shang, 1 N.Y.S.2d 152, 155 (1979); St. Francis Hospital v. D'Elia, 4 N.Y.S.2d 104, 109 (1979).

In Berger v. Department of Health Education and Welfare, Civil Action No. 76 C 1420 (1978), the Federal District Court for the Eastern District of New York gave its approval to a consent judgment regarding eligibility for Supplemental Security Income benefits which included as persons permanently residing in the United States under color of law "any alien residing in the United States with the knowledge and permission of the Immigration and Naturalization Service and whose departure from the United States the Immigration and Naturalization Service does not contemplate enforcing." (Final judgment attached as Appendix 1).

The court in Papadopoulos, supra, determined that the petitioner was in the United States under color of law while her application for adjustment of status was pending before the Immigration and Naturalization Service. In Papadopoulos, the petitioner entered the United States on a non-immigrant visa on August 16, 1975, and 12 days later she applied to the INS for a change of status to that of permanent resident. She had a stroke February 2, 1976, while her application before the INS was still pending. Applications for nursing home care were approved in May 1976 and June 1976. Her application before the INS was denied on December 15, 1976, and the denial was on review at the time the court heard the case. The court determined that denial of Medicaid was inappropriate since the petitioner was in the United States "under color of law" during any "period subsequent to the final denial of her application for adjustment of status to permanent resident and while she was awaiting a ruling on whether

or not she would be granted deferred status for humanitarian reasons." Id. at 155 (Emphasis added).

In the present case, the standards of Holley as applied in Papadopoulos support a finding that the Appellant is and was, at the time he filed and received unemployment compensation benefits, permanently residing in the United States under color of law within the meaning of §35-4-5(k). As in Papadopoulos, the Appellant in this case voluntarily contacted the INS to attain an adjustment of status to permanent resident. When he contacted the INS they issued an I-94 form, an identification form issued pursuant to 8 C.F.R. §264.1. This form identifies the alien as a person who is under docket control of the INS. Aliens are required to carry this documentation at all times. Failure to have those documents is a punishable offense under 8 U.S.C. §1304(e).

Appellant rightfully understood this as a change from his previous status in the United States (R. 0037). He continued to keep the INS informed of his presence in the United States and has not been deported. In fact, he did not hear from the INS again until after he filed for Suspension of Deportation in August of 1981 (R. 0055). Then on September 10, 1981, an Order to Show Cause alleging a basis for deportation was issued (R. 0051). The veracity of these allegations has never been proven by the INS in a deportation hearing. The Appellant remains in the United States with the knowledge and permission of the INS until these allegations are proven and his Application for Suspension of Deportation is finally denied or granted.<sup>1</sup> Thus,

the Appellant is in the same condition that Mrs. Papadopoulos was while she was waiting for the INS to act on her application. As the court noted there she was "under color of law pending a final denial of her applications and deferred status."

The relief that Appellant seeks under the Immigration and Nationality Act, in the form of Suspension of Deportation, is similar in nature to the relief which was sought in Papadopoulos.<sup>2</sup> Throughout the period of his dealings with the INS, no efforts beyond the initiation of deportation proceedings through the issuance of an Order to Show Cause have been made by the INS to effect a final deportation. The hearing date to determine the veracity of these allegations is still to be set on a "date to be determined." (R. 0051) All of this impels the conclusion that Baltazar Antillon is "permanently residing in the United States under color of law" and thus, is entitled to unemployment compensation benefits under §35-4-5(k)(1), Utah Code Ann. (1981 Supplement).

---

<sup>1</sup> The right of an individual to remain in the United States pending final adjudication of his status is indicated by 8 U.S.C.A. §1252(e) (1983 Supplement) which penalizes an alien for failure to depart the country "within a period of six months from the date of the final order of deportation under administrative processes, or, if judicial review is had, then from the date of the final order of the court...."

<sup>2</sup> Suspension of Deportation is a discretionary form of relief from deportation under the Immigration laws, 8 U.S.C.A. §1254. This form of relief is also recognized in 8 U.S.C.A. §1252(e)(6), as relief which a court could recognize to allow an alien to remain in the United States.

- C. A RELATIONSHIP MAY BE PERMANENT EVEN THOUGH IT IS ONE THAT MAY BE CHANGED EVENTUALLY AT THE INSTANCE OF EITHER THE UNITED STATES OR THE INDIVIDUAL.

Since in the phrase "permanently residing in the United States under color of law" reference is being made to an alien's immigration status, the definition found in the Immigration and Nationality Act is helpful in explaining the meaning of the terms. In regards to the word "permanent" the Immigration and Nationality Act states in 8 U.S.C. §1101(a)(31):

The term "permanent" means a relationship of continuing or lasting nature, as distinguished from temporary, but a relationship may be permanent even though it is one that may be dissolved eventually at the instance of either the United States or of the individual, in accordance with law.

See also: Holley v. Lavine, *supra*, at 850.

The statutory definition of the adjective "permanent" aids in the interpretation of the adverb "permanently" when construing the phrase "permanently residing in the United States under color of law".

Moreover, the above federal statutory definition is consistent with categories of persons qualifying as "permanently residing...under color of law" in §35-4-5(k). For example, under 8 U.S.C. §1153(a)(7), a refugee is only permitted conditional entry pursuant to regulations of the Attorney General, while under 8 U.S.C. §1182, an alien may be paroled temporarily into the United States at the direction of the Attorney General even though they are otherwise inadmissible. Thus, the two examples

are instances where an alien is permitted to stay in the United States not necessarily forever, but only so long as he/she is in a particular condition, Holley v. Lavine, supra at 851. While in that particular condition the alien is permanently residing in the United States.

The Appellant in this case has an ongoing relationship with the INS in which he is attempting to legitimize his immigrant status to that of legal permanent resident through Suspension of Deportation. So long as INS allows him to reside in the United States to pursue his claim to permanent residency, he should be recognized as a person permanently residing in the United States under color of law.

POINT II.

APPELLANT WAS ENTITLED TO BENEFITS SINCE THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED WAS INSUFFICIENT TO TERMINATE HIS UNEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS.

- A. THE DECISION WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY A PREPONDERANCE OF EVIDENCE.

Regardless of whether or not Appellant is found to be residing in the United States under color of law, he is nonetheless entitled to the benefits that he has received since the Respondents failed to demonstrate, by a preponderance of the evidence, that Appellant was an ineligible alien at the time he filed for and received unemployment compensation benefits. The disqualification provisions of §35-4-5(k) (3) specifically provide that:

(3) In the case of an individual whose application for benefits would otherwise be approved, no determination that



benefits to such individual are not payable because of his alien status shall be made except upon a preponderance of the evidence.

(Emphasis added). This requires the Respondent to demonstrate that a preponderance of the evidence substantiates ineligibility at the time the claim for benefits was made. In the present case, there is nothing in the record that substantiate a determination of ineligibility at the time Appellant applied for and received unemployment benefits. The evidence, which is totally hearsay, establishes questions about the Appellant's status prior to filing for unemployment benefits, but it does not support a factual finding of illegal status at the time he applied for benefits. The testimony of the Appellant establishes that he is a citizen of Mexico. This in and of itself is not sufficient to disqualify the Appellant or demonstrate that when he applied for unemployment benefits he was an ineligible alien.

B. HEARSAY ALONE IS INSUFFICIENT TO JUSTIFY THE DECISION OF THE BOARD OF REVIEW.

The Respondents base their denial of benefits solely on the hearsay evidence provided by the Immigration and Naturalization Service. In Sandy State Bank v. Brimhall, 636 P.2d 481 at 486 (Utah 1981), this Court stated the rule regarding use of hearsay in administrative proceedings:

The Court has long recognized the considerable differences that exist between court trials and proceedings before administrative agencies, and that the technical rules of evidence need not be applied in the latter. The Court has also held that hearsay evidence

is admissible in proceedings before the Industrial Commission and the Public Service Commission. However, a finding of fact cannot be based solely on hearsay evidence, but must be supported by a residuum of legal evidence competent in a court of law.

(Footnotes omitted, emphasis added). See also: Ogden Iron Works v. Industrial Commission, 702 Utah 492, 132 P.2d 376, 379 (1942).

The decision of the Respondents in the present case was based solely upon the hearsay statements of the INS. The Respondents relied upon documents of the INS which were admitted over objection by the Appellant (R. 0029, 0030), as being hearsay. The Appeals Referee acknowledged the existence of hearsay, but overruled the objection and admitted the evidence (R. 0030).

The prejudicial effect of relying solely on the hearsay evidence in the present case is demonstrated by the void in the record created due Appellant's lack of opportunity to confront the INS about the relevance of the various documents in establishing Appellant's immigration status in the United States. One document relied upon by the Department Representative (R. 0039) blatantly states that the Appellant is in the country "illegally" without stating why or under what law the determination was made. Furthermore, the documents of the INS failed to establish the qualifications of the individuals making statements of the Appellant's status in the country.

The Respondents cannot base their decision solely on the prior decision of the Department. The Board of Review must

examine the record and find competent evidence supporting findings of fact. Philadelphia Transportation Company v. Unemployment Compensation Board of Review, 196 Pa.Super. 14 (1958). The record in this case does not support the existence of even a "residuum of legal evidence" which would be "competent in a court of law. Thus, the Respondent's decision cannot stand since it is not supported by competent evidence nor substantiated by a preponderance of evidence. The only evidence produced by the Respondent in support of its decision was the hearsay document of Mr. Donald Whitney (R. 0049) and the Order to Show Cause (R. 0051) which merely alleges that the Appellant is illegally present in the United States. The function of an Order to Show Cause was spelled out in Chlomos v. U.S. Dept. of Justice Immigration and Naturalization Service, 516 F.2d 310, 312 F.M. (1975) which stated:

1. An order to show cause should contain a concise statement of the violation and a designation of the charges against the alien. It is comparable to an indictment in a criminal proceeding or a complaint in a civil action. See 1 Gordon and Rosenfield, Immigration Law and Procedure, §5.5 et seq. (Rev.ed. 1974).

The Appeals Referee stated that in regard to the Appellant's immigration status: "As near as I can determine everything in this case is pending." This is the only clear finding of fact which is supported by the testimony evidence presented at the Appellant's hearing. For these reasons, the decision of the Board of Review should be reversed and the Appellant's unemployment benefits should be reinstated.

POINT III.

THE APPELLANT DID NOT WILLFULLY OR KNOWINGLY ATTEMPT TO OBTAIN UNEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS HE WAS NOT ENTITLED TO.

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