1983

# Baltazar Antillon v. The Board of Review of The Industrial Commission of Utah, Supreme Court Department of Employment Security : Defendant's Brief

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

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I

IN REVIEWING A DETERMINATION OF THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION UNDER THE UTAH EMPLOYMENT SECURITY ACT THE COURT WILL AFFIRM THE COMMISSION'S FINDINGS IF SUCH ARE SUSTAINED BY SUBSTANTIAL COMPETENT EVIDENCE.

This Court has consistently held that where the findings of the Commission and the Board of Review are supported by evidence, they will not

to be disturbed. Martinez v. Board of Review, 25 U. 2d 131, 477 P. 2d 587 (1940). A reversal of an order of the Department denying compensation can only be justified if there is no substantial evidence to sustain the determination and the facts giving rise to a right to compensation are so persuasive that the Department's denial was clearly capricious, arbitrary and unreasonable. Kennecott Copper Corporation Employees v. Department of Employment Security, 13 U. 2d 262, 372 P. 2d 987 (1962); Gocke v. Wiesley, 18 U. 2d 245, 420 P. 2d 44 (1966); Continental Oil Company v. Board of Review of the Industrial Commission, Utah, 568 P. 2d 727 (1977). In Members of Iron Workers Union of Provo v. Industrial Commission, 104 U. 2d, 139 P. 2d 208, 211 (1943), this Court stated:

If there is substantial competent evidence to sustain the findings and decisions of the Industrial Commission, this court may not set aside the decision even though on a review of the record we might well have reached a different result.

This Court has adhered to the same standard of review in cases involving violation of Section 35-4-5(e) of the Utah Employment Security Act. Decker v. Industrial Commission of Utah, Department of Employment Security, Utah, 533 P. 2d 898 (1975); Whitcome v. Department of Employment Security, Industrial Commission of Utah, Utah, 564 P. 2d 1116 (1977).

#### POINT II

THE BOARD OF REVIEW DID NOT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT THE CLAIMANT IS INELIGIBLE TO RECEIVE UNEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS AS AN ALIEN PERMANENTLY RESIDING IN THE UNITED STATES UNDER COLOR OF LAW, AND SAID DETERMINATION IS SUPPORTED BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE.

Section 35-4-5(k)(1), Utah Code Annotated, provides as follows:

5. An individual shall be ineligible for benefits or for purposes of establishing a waiting period:

(k)(1) For any week in which the benefits are based upon services performed by an alien, unless the alien is an individual who has been lawfully admitted for permanent residence at the time the services were performed, was lawfully present for purposes of performing the services or, was permanently residing in the United States under color of law at the time the services were performed, including an alien who is lawfully present in the United States as a result of application of the provisions of subsection 203(a)(7) or subsection 212(d) (5) of the Immigration and Nationality Act. (Emphasis added.)

Paragraph (3) of Section 5(k) requires that a determination of eligibility for unemployment benefits under this section of law be made on a preponderance of the evidence. In this matter the evidence is substantial, competent and preponderates against the claimant.

Authorization for aliens to be employed while residing in the United States is governed by 8 C.F.R., Part 109. Definition for those aliens who are not required to request authorization to be employed is found in 8 C.F.R. 109.1(a). The evidence of record does not support, nor has the claimant alleged that he belongs to any of the classes of aliens who are allowed to be employed without making a request for such authorization to the Immigration and Naturalization Service.

Definition for those aliens who must apply for work authorization is found in 8 C.F.R. 109.1(b). Included in this classification are any aliens who are deportable, but have been granted voluntary departure. See 8 C.F.R. 109.1(b)(6). The claimant has not established, nor has he even contended

that he has at any time been granted authorization by the Immigration and Naturalization Service to work in the United States.

Plaintiff's principle contention on appeal is that since his initial contact with the Immigration and Naturalization Service he has been permanently residing in the United States under color of law because the Immigration and Naturalization Service has taken no final action to deport him. See Brief of Appellant, Page 9. Defendant agrees with the definition of the term "under color of law" set forth in Appellant's Brief which quotes from the case of Holley v. Lavine, 553 F. 2d 845, (2nd Cir. 1977), cert. denied Shang v. U.S., 435 U.S. 947 (1978). Most cases defining the term refer to it in terms of the acts of an official done by virtue of power as contrasted with acts done by specific authority. See Words and Phrases, "Color of Law."

Claimant relies heavily on the cases of Papadopoulos v. Shang, 414 N.Y.S. 2d 152 (1979) and St. Francis Hospital v. D'Elia, 422 N.Y.S. 2d 104 (1979). In each of these cases the aliens had entered the United States legally and thereafter requested a change of their status to that of permanent residents. The Immigration and Naturalization Service in Papadopoulos and Holley issued letters to the New York State Department of Social Services that deportation proceedings would not be instituted for humanitarian reasons and that the Immigration and Naturalization Service did not contemplate enforcing the aliens' departure at that particular time. In the third case, St. Francis Hospital, the alien had requested a change of status and had received no communication to the effect that she must leave the country.

Claimant has also appended to his Brief a copy of a decision in the case of Berger v. Secretary of the United States Department of Health, Education and Welfare, Civil Action No. 76 C 1420 (1978), in which the Federal District Court for the Eastern District of New York held that any alien residing in the United States with the knowledge and permission of the Immigration and Naturalization Service and whose departure from the United States the Service does not contemplate enforcing is also permanently residing in the United States under color of law. Like the Holley and Papadopoulos cases, the Berger case is distinguishable from the instant case in that the alien was residing in the United States under an Order of Supervision.

In the instant case the claimant was given a Notice of Voluntary Deporture, with which he failed to comply. Subsequent thereto the claimant received an Order to Show Cause why he should not be deported. He thereupon filed an Application for Suspension of Deportation on the grounds of hardship. The claimant offered no evidence nor is there any evidence in the record that the Immigration and Naturalization Service intends to withhold deportation action with respect to the claimant. On the contrary, the Department of Employment Security was advised in writing by the Officer in charge of the Salt Lake City Office of the Immigration and Naturalization Service that the claimant will be scheduled for a deportation hearing at a future date. Further, the letter advises that the claimant has not been granted the right to accept employment in this country. R.0049 Under such circumstances the claimant's case is clearly distinguishable from those

cases cited in his Brief. The Board of Review, therefore, did not err in finding that the claimant is not residing in the United States under color of law.

In contrast with the cases cited by the claimant, which are Social Security Disability or Medicare cases, there have been several reported cases involving the eligibility of aliens for unemployment insurance. An early case was Alonso v. State, 50 Cal. App. 3rd 242, 123 Cal. Rptr 536, 87 ALR 3rd 678 (1975), cert. denied 425 U.S. 903, 47 L.Ed. 2d 752, 96 S.Ct. 1492. The court held that an alien who is in the United States unlawfully has no constitutional right to work; that a state employment department requirement that an alien applicant for unemployment insurance benefits supply evidence that the Immigration and Naturalization Service is aware of his presence was a relevant and proper requirement; that on the alien's failure to supply such evidence the department may find that he was not entitled to unemployment benefits by reason of not being "available for work;" and that the applicant for unemployment insurance benefits has a burden to prove his eligibility for such benefits. A New Jersey Court has held that an alien who is not authorized to be gainfully employed is ineligible for unemployment compensation on the ground of unavailability for work even though the alien would have achieved immigrant status earlier but for a legal error by the Immigration and Naturalization Service. Lepiani v. Board of Review, Department of Labor and Industry, 169 N.J. Super. 72, 404 A. 2d 318 (1979). The court specifically stated:

. . . The fact nevertheless remains that until she was duly authorized to work by I.N.S. her alien status, of which she was well aware, precluded her legal employment. 404 A. 2d, at 319.

This decision also contains reference to two other New Jersey cases in which aliens having a non-immigrant status without employment authorization were disqualified from receiving unemployment benefits.

The Supreme Court of Colorado has also denied unemployment benefits to an illegal alien. The court, sitting en banc, stated:

The courts have consistently held that aliens who enter the United States on non-immigrant visas and aliens who enter illegally have no constitutional right to work. [Citations omitted] An illegal alien is also subject to deportation. [Citation omitted]

Such an individual is legally unable to work, and "legal inability to work is as disqualifying as physical inability to work." [Citations omitted] Thus, appellant, who was legally unavailable for work, did not qualify for benefits under Section 8-73-107(1)(c). Duenas-Rodriguez v. Industrial Commission, Colo., 606 P. 2d 437 (1980).

The underlying reason for disqualification of illegal aliens is that such individuals are not legally authorized to work and therefore cannot meet the availability requirements of the unemployment insurance laws. Each of the cases cited above was decided on that basis. See also Annotation, "Aliens' Right to Unemployment Compensation," 87 ALR 3rd 694. Recently the Congress amended the Federal Unemployment Tax Act to require the states deny unemployment benefits to an alien unless such alien has been lawfully admitted for permanent residence or is otherwise residing in the United States under color of law. See 26 U.S.C.S. Section 3304(a)(14)(A). Section

§ 30-5(k) was added to the Utah Employment Security Act by the Utah Legislature in 1977 in response to the Federal requirement. The claimant's contention that he was residing in the United States under color of law is not supported by either his own testimony or by the other evidence in the record.

First, by the claimant's own admission he entered the United States illegally on five separate occasions, including his last entry. R.0054 In the claimant's own words he stated that he "jumped the fence." R.0054 The claimant specifically testified that prior to 1981 he did not apply for any public benefits because he knew that he "was not legal." R.0034 Further, the claimant offered no evidence whatsoever that he has ever been authorized by the I.N.S. to work in the United States.

The claimant contends that the decision of the Board of Review relies solely on hearsay evidence and is, therefore, invalid. Defendant agrees with claimant that an administrative finding generally may not be based solely on hearsay evidence, but must be supported by a residuum of legal, competent evidence. However, with respect to hearsay evidence in unemployment insurance cases, this Court has recently held that such evidence is admissible if it has some probative weight and reliability. Further, while gossip or rumor will not suffice as admissible evidence, a written statement may be admitted where there is some reasonable basis for inferring the reliability of such evidence. Trotta v. Department of Employment Security, Utah, 664 P. 2d 1195, 1198 (1983).

Section 35-4-5(k)(3) requires that an individual may not be denied benefits because of his alien status except upon a preponderance of the evidence. In the instant case the evidence is substantial, competent and preponderant against the claimant.

The specific hearsay evidence of which claimant complains is a letter from the Officer in Charge of the Salt Lake City Office of the Immigration and Naturalization Service, in which he states that the claimant was not authorized to work in the United States. That letter constituted an official communication from the Federal Agency charged with enforcing the Immigration Laws of this nation and was written by an individual in a position to know the claimant's alien status. The evidence contained in the letter and other documents provided by the I.N.S., is supported by the claimant's own admissions of his illegal entry into the United States and his failure to produce any evidence that I.N.S. has ever granted him authorization to work. Under such circumstances neither the Appeal Referee nor the Board of Review erred in accepting such evidence and giving it its proper probative weight.

### POINT III

THE BOARD OF REVIEW DID NOT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT THE CLAIMANT INTENTIONALLY WITHHELD INFORMATION OF HIS ALIEN STATUS IN ORDER TO OBTAIN BENEFITS TO WHICH HE WAS NOT ENTITLED.

Section 35-4-5(e), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended (1979 Code Supplement) provides as follows:

5. An individual shall be ineligible for benefits or for purposes of establishing a waiting period:

For each week with respect to which the claimant has willfully made a false statement or representation or knowingly failed to report material facts to obtain any benefit under the provisions of this act, and an additional 13 weeks for the first week the statement or representation was made or fact withheld and six weeks for each week thereafter; such additional weeks not to exceed 49 weeks. The additional period shall commence on the Sunday following the issuance of a determination finding the claimant in violation of this subsection. In addition, each individual found in violation of this subsection shall pay to the commission twice the amount received by reason of the false representation or statement or failure to report a material fact. . . .

This Court has previously stated that intention to defraud is inherent in the claim itself when such claim contains false statements and fails to set forth material information required by statute. Martinez v. Industrial Commission, Utah, 576 P. 2d 1295 (1978). The filing of such a claim is in and of itself a manifestation of intent to defraud. Mineer v. Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah, Utah, 572 P. 2d 1364 (1977).

The evidence of record in this matter is clear and convincing. The claimant filed two initial claims for benefits on which he answered "Yes" to the question "Are you a U. S. Citizen?" R.0058 and R.0060 (Supplemental Record) By his own admission the claimant had entered the United States illegally on four separate occasions, by jumping the fence; the last entrance occurring in August 1980. R.0054 The claimant admitted to knowing that he was not eligible for benefits up to 1980. In response to an inquiry as to why he marked "Yes" to the question of whether he was a citizen, the claimant responded:

. . . And I was on and off, unemployed, and I never did apply for any public benefits because I know back then I was not legal, and of course I understand that I'm-- I was wrong on that time because I didn't have nothing to prove that I was legal in the country, or illegal, so I did not apply for any benefits, because I didn't begin to get nothing from the Immigration Service.  
R.0034-0035

The claimant contends that he contacted the Immigration and Naturalization Service in July or August 1980. R.0035 At that time he requested a change of status. However, in January 1981 the claimant received a Notice of Voluntary Departure from the Immigration and Naturalization Service. R.0056 At the time of filing his initial claim for unemployment benefits in January 1981, the claimant certainly knew that he was not a citizen of the United States. By July 1982, when the claimant filed his second initial claim for unemployment benefits, he had already applied for Suspension of Deportation. R.0054 Under such circumstances the claimant's assertion that he thought he was legally in the United States is simply not credible and was properly rejected by the Board of Review and the Appeal Referee in determining that the claimant intentionally withheld the information of his alien status.

#### CONCLUSION

The Unemployment Insurance Program is designed to protect members of the work force when they become unemployed through no fault of their own if they are genuinely available for work. The disqualification contained in Section 35-4-5(k) of the Employment Security Act was added to the law to

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